## Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 7/23/2021 by Karissa Castro, Deputy Clerk

#### IN THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT

No. S268480

ARNETTE TRAVIS ET AL.,
PETITIONERS,

V.

BILL BRAND ET AL., RESPONDENTS,

After a Decision by the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three Case Nos. B298104 and B301479

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California, Los Angeles County, Case No. BC 665330 The Honorable Malcolm H. Mackey Presiding

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### I. ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeal in *Travis et al. v. Brand et al.*, Appellate Court Case Nos. B301479 and B298104, erred by rejecting *People v. Roger Hedgecock for Mayor Com.* (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 810, 815, which held that a prevailing defendant in a Political Reform Act case may only recover attorney's fees if the case was "frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation," and holding instead that prevailing plaintiffs and defendants should be treated the same under the Political Reform Act for an award of attorney's fees?

#### II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

The law concerning the circumstances under which a prevailing defendant can recover attorney's fees in a case brought under California's Political Reform Act of 1974 (the "Act")<sup>1</sup> should encourage robust enforcement of the Act's provisions, consistent with the Legislature's intent. Instead, in *Travis et al. v. Brand et al.*, Appellate Court Case Nos. B301479 and B298104 ("*Travis*"), the Court of Appeal neutered the Act's private enforcement mechanism and undermined California's election disclosure requirements. For the reasons set forth herein, the judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Political Reform Act is set forth at Government Code, section 81000 *et seq*.

Since 1986, California law has required a prevailing defendant in a case filed to enforce the disclosure requirements mandated by the Political Reform Act to show that the case was "frivolous, unreasonable or without foundation" before the defendant may recover attorney's fees. (People v. Roger Hedgecock for Mayor Com. (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 810, 815 ("Hedgecock"); Community Cause v. Boatwright, 195 Cal.App.3d 562, 574 ("Boatwright").) This rule was initially announced in Hedgecock, where the Court of Appeal was asked to determine the standard for an award of attorney's fees to a prevailing defendant under the Political Reform Act. In reaching its conclusion, the Court of Appeal relied on *Christiansburg* Garment Co. v. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (1978) 434 U.S. 412 ("Christiansburg"), a United States Supreme Court case interpreting the Civil Rights Act's fee shifting provision. In *Christiansburg*, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that a rule awarding fees to prevailing defendants as a matter of course would undercut Congress' efforts to promote vigorous enforcement of the Civil Rights Act through civil enforcement. Accordingly, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded a plaintiff should not be assessed his opponent's attorney's fees unless a court finds that his claim was frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless, or that the plaintiff continued to litigate after it clearly became so.

Hedgecock adopted Christiansburg's reasoning in the context of California's Political Reform Act, holding that for a prevailing defendant to recover fees, the case must be frivolous:

In fact, the need to avoid discouraging potential plaintiffs under the Political Reform Act is perhaps even more critical than with respect to the federal civil rights statutes. Where a violation of civil rights has occurred, the injury, although usually noneconomic and often ephemeral, is at least direct. Where the actionable wrong is the adulteration of the political process, the damage to the citizenry is significant but the injury to any one citizen is not only nebulous but also indirect. The attorney's fee provisions of the Political Reform Act are designed to ameliorate the burden on the individual citizen who seeks to remedy what is essentially a collective wrong.

(Hedgecock, supra, 183 Cal.App.3d at p. 817, emphasis added.)

Thereafter, the Court of Appeal considered the issue again in *Boatwright*. *Boatwright* considered *Hedgecock's* reasoning and adopted it in full, confirming that a prevailing defendant in a Political Reform Act case was not entitled to fees unless the action against it was "frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation." (*Boatwright, supra*, 195 Cal.App.3d at p. 574.) Thus, since 1986, California law has required that a prevailing defendant in a Political Reform Act case show the case was "frivolous, unreasonable or without foundation" before they may recover attorneys' fees.

In *Travis*, the Court of Appeal rejected *Hedgecock* and *Boatwright* and held that "prevailing plaintiffs and prevailing defendants are to be treated

alike, and attorney fees are to be awarded to prevailing parties only as a matter of the trial court's discretion." (*Travis* at 31.) *Travis* undermines the Legislature's policy of encouraging private enforcement of the Political Reform Act; indeed, *Travis* actively discourages private enforcement. Under *Travis*, only wealthy individuals and corporations will bring suits to enforce the Political Reform Act, since they are the only plaintiffs who can survive a judgment saddling them with defendant's fees.

More generally, *Travis* has the effect of punishing plaintiffs for bringing good-faith actions to enforce the Political Reform Act against politicians whenever their suits are unsuccessful. This result cannot be reconciled with the clear legislative policy embodied in the Political Reform Act. Accordingly, the Court should take this opportunity to affirm the rule of *Hedgecock* and hold that a prevailing plaintiff may be responsible for defendant's fees only if the plaintiff's suit was "frivolous, unreasonable or without foundation."

Additionally, in the interest of judicial economy, the Court should reverse the trial court's finding that Petitioners' case was frivolous, which was not addressed by the Court of Appeal and is, in any event, untenable as a matter of law. As set forth below, the trial court denied Respondents' five motions for summary judgment, their joint motion to dismiss, and their joint motion for non-suit, each time finding substantive and triable issues of material fact. The last time the Trial Court did so was after Petitioners rested

their case, still refusing to dismiss the action. That the Trial Court later ruled for Respondents did not render the action frivolous.<sup>2</sup> Under California law, the denial of a motion for summary judgment or motion for nonsuit establishes probable cause for the lawsuit. (*Wilson v. Parker, Covert & Chidester* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 811, 818; *Roberts v. Sentry Life Ins.* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 375, 384.) Accordingly, Petitioners' suit could not have been frivolous.

For the reasons set forth herein, the judgment of the Court of Appeal must be reversed.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. Petitioners Seek To Enforce The Political Reform Act

Petitioners Chris Voisey and Arnette Travis (collectively, "Petitioners") are politically active residents of the City of Redondo Beach. On June 15, 2017, Petitioners filed a lawsuit against Bill Brand ("Brand"), Linda Moffat ("Moffat"), Nils Nehrenheim ("Nehrenheim"), Wayne Craig ("Craig"), Rescue Our Waterfront PAC ("ROW PAC"), and Bill Brand for Mayor ("BBM") (collectively, "Respondents").

In essence, Petitioners alleged that Respondents had violated campaign finance law by improperly coordinating their fundraising activities

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Apparently, the Trial Court based its belated finding of frivolousness largely on the Respondents' accusation that Petitioners' obtained financing for the lawsuit because they could not afford to pay their own legal fees. (See Rep.'s Tr. on Appeal, Case No. BC66530, at p. 30:1-17.)

and failing to make proper disclosures about that coordination. (1 Appellants' Appendix<sup>3</sup> ("AA") at pp. 18-29.) The lawsuit alleged that Respondents violated the Act by failing to disclose (i) ROW PAC's status as a "primarily formed committee" and (ii) that ROW PAC was controlled by Brand and Nehrenheim. (*Id.* at p. 18.) Petitioners sought a court order directing Respondents to comply with the Political Reform Act and related FPPC<sup>4</sup> regulations by filing amended campaign statements, nothing more.

In April and May 2018, after the completion of a substantial amount of discovery, Respondents sought to dispose of the case by filing motions for summary judgment. (1 AA at pp. 108-110 [denying five motions for summary judgment].) After briefing and oral argument, the trial court denied Respondents' summary judgment motions, holding as follows:

The Court finds that triable issues of material fact exist, as shown by moving and opposing parties' separate statements, including as to whether defendants exercised significant influence, were controlling candidates or committees, or failed to disclose information.

(*Id.* at pp. 108-109.)

Six months later, between November 14, 2018, and November 20, 2018, the trial court conducted a bench trial of Petitioners' lawsuit. On the first day of trial, after Petitioners' counsel had made its opening statement,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "AA" refers to the Appellants' Appendix in appellate case no. B301479.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "FPPC" refers to the California Fair Political Practices Commission.

Respondents moved for non-suit, which the trial court denied. (2 AA at p. 425.)

During the trial, after Petitioners rested their case, Respondents brought an oral motion to dismiss, which the trial court denied, finding that dismissal was not justified. (3 AA at p. 498.) Respondents also brought a written motion for non-suit, which the trial court also denied. (2 AA at p. 425.) Thus, Petitioners prevailed on several motions for summary judgment, motions for non-suit, and motions to dismiss because, among other things, "factual issues" remained to be adjudicated. Because of the existence of such disputed material issues, Petitioners' case could not have been frivolous as a matter of law. (See *Wilson v. Parker, Covert & Chidester* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 811, 818; *Roberts v. Sentry Life Ins.* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 375, 384.)

After the presentation of evidence by the parties, the trial court ruled from the bench in favor of Respondents and ordered them to prepare a statement of decision and proposed judgment. (4 AA at p. 678-745.) On November 30, 2018, Respondents submitted a proposed judgment and statement of decision that included findings that Respondents were entitled to their attorneys' fees against Petitioners and other non-parties. (7 AA at p. 1555:5-12.) The trial court adopted the Statement of Decision and Judgment in their entirety with no changes. (3 AA at pp. 570-598.)

After entry of the Statement of Decision and Judgment, each of the Respondents filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees. (3 AA at pp. 625-814; 4 AA at pp. 815-922, 923-960; 5 AA at pp. 964-985.)

At the hearing on Respondents' motions, Petitioners' counsel argued that fees could not be awarded under Government Code § 91003 because Petitioners' case was not "frivolous, unreasonable or without foundation." (Reporter's Transcript on Appeal, Case No. BC66530 ("RT"), at pp. 2:10-26, 4:18-5:9.) Petitioners' counsel urged the trial court to "look at the situation, the world as it was on June 15, 2017"—*i.e.*, when the Complaint was filed—and to "what evidence existed that led [counsel] and [his] colleagues and these Plaintiffs to bring the case." (*Id.* at p. 3:14-17.)

Despite the trial court's previous ruling that there were disputed issues that required a full trial on the merits (and rendering Petitioners' suit *per se* non-frivolous), the trial court awarded fees, stating simply, "[t]he Court finds that the suit was frivolous, and that's my ruling." (RT at p. 29:17.)

On August 7, 2019, the trial court signed the fee order, which awarded \$352,050 to the Brand Respondents, \$367,900 to Nehrenheim, and \$142,786.60 to the ROW PAC Respondents, for a total fee award of \$862,736.60.<sup>5</sup> (8 AA at pp. 1775-1777.) In support of its conclusion that

12

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Respondents then recorded the \$862,736.60 Judgment as a lien against Petitioner Voisey's modest home, an amount nearly equaling the home's assessed value of \$910,113. (Motion Requesting Judicial Notice, Exs. A & B.)

fees were recoverable under Government Code § 91003, the trial court stated that "[t]he instant lawsuit was frivolous, unreasonable and groundless." (*Id.* at p. 1776.)

#### B. The *Travis* Court Errs By Rejecting *Hedgecock*

After entry of the Judgment and Fee Order, Petitioners timely appealed the trial court's rulings to the Court of Appeal. On March 19, 2021, after briefing and oral argument from the parties, the Court of Appeal issued an opinion in *Travis* and certified it for publication.

The Court of Appeal correctly voided the Judgment as to non-parties Redondo Beach Waterfront, LLC ("RBW"), Fred Bruning ("Bruning"), and Jean Paul Wardy ("Wardy"), as they were not parties to the lawsuit and could not be joined in the Judgment consistent with due process. (*Travis* at 28.) As to the Judgment against Petitioners (*i.e.*, the individual citizen-plaintiffs), the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court in full. (*Id.* at 31.)

In affirming the trial court's award of attorneys' fees as to Respondents, *Travis* rejected *Hedgecock* and *Boatwright*, which held that before a defendant is entitled to fees under Government Code § 91003, the defendant must prove that the plaintiff's case is frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless.

The Court of Appeal in *Travis* correctly noted that *Hedgecock* and *Boatwright* had relied on *Christiansburg*, "which held a court must find a plaintiff's claims under title VII of the Civil Rights Act to be frivolous,

unreasonable, or groundless to award attorneys fees to the defendant" (*Travis* at p. 30), but then added, incorrectly, that *Christiansburg* was "considerably limited" by *Fogerty v. Fantasy, Inc.* (1994) 510 U.S. 517 ("*Fogerty*"), a case interpreting the fee-shifting provision in the United States Copyright Act:

The Fogerty decision observed Christiansburg's holding stemmed from its civil rights context: "Oftentimes, in the civil rights context, impecunious 'private attorney general' plaintiffs can ill afford to litigate their claims against defendants with more resources." (Forgerty, at p. 524.) The high court contrasted this special setting with a more typical civil litigation, where plaintiffs "can run the gamut from corporate behemoths to starving artists. (Ibid.) The same is true of prospective defendants, the court observed.

(*Travis* at 30.)

Relying on *Fogerty*, the Court of Appeal in *Travis* concluded that "election law disputes are more like the ordinary civil litigation setting in *Fogerty*: generalizations about plaintiffs and defendants are doubtful." (*Travis* at 30.) Thus, the Court of Appeal held that under § 91003, "prevailing plaintiffs and prevailing defendants are to be treated alike, and attorneys fees are to be awarded to prevailing parties only as a matter of the trial court's discretion." (*Id.* at 31.)

As a result of the Court of Appeal's ruling in *Travis*, Petitioners, typical residents of Redondo Beach who dared to challenge Respondents' campaign finance filings, are now liable for \$862,736.60 in attorneys' fees. The Court of Appeal's opinion in *Travis* means that ordinary citizens will not bring suits to enforce the Political Reform Act for fear that if their allegations

are ultimately disproven, they will be saddled with the defendant's fees. Travis neuters the Act's private enforcement mechanism and undermines California's election disclosure requirements. For the reasons set forth below, the judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. <u>Travis Rejects Over 30-Years of Well-Settled Law</u>

An award of attorneys' fees in Political Reform Act cases is governed by, among other things, Government Code, section 91003, which provides as follows:

(a) Any person residing in the jurisdiction may sue for injunctive relief to enjoin violations or to compel compliance with the provisions of this title.... The court may award to a plaintiff or defendant who prevails his costs of litigation, including reasonable attorneys' fees.

Although section 91003 is silent on the point, since 1986, California courts and litigants have interpreted section 91003 to mean that a prevailing defendant may recover its fees only if it can prove that the plaintiff's suit was "frivolous, unreasonable or without foundation." (*Hedgecock, supra*, 183 Cal.App.3d at p. 815; *Boatwright, supra*, 195 Cal.App.3d at p. 574.)

In *Hedgecock*, the Court of Appeal was asked to determine the standard for an award of attorneys' fees to a prevailing defendant under the Political Reform Act. The plaintiff filed a civil suit under the Political

15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> To avoid repeating "frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation," Appellants use "frivolous" to embody all three terms.

Reform Act alleging that the defendants failed to report contributions made to a mayoral candidate. (*Hedgecock*, *supra*, 183 Cal.App.3d at pp. 812-813.) After dismissal of the complaint, defendants requested attorneys' fees under section 91003. (Id. at p. 814.) The trial court denied defendants' fees, and the Court of Appeal affirmed. The Court of Appeal held that under section 91003, "Defendants could be awarded attorneys' fees only if the suit was frivolous, unreasonable or without foundation." (Id. at p. 810, emphasis added.) Specifically, *Hedgecock* evaluated the text of both fee-shifting provisions (sections 91003 and 91012) and noted that "[t]he use of the word 'may' in both statutes is significant in that it implies a legislative intent to retain judicial discretion in defining the circumstance in which costs and fees will be awarded." (Id. at p. 815.) Hedgecock then determined that symmetrical fee-shifting would not be consistent with the legislative purpose underlying sections 91003 and 91012. (*Ibid.*)

In coming to its conclusion, *Hedgecock* relied on *Christiansburg*, a U.S. Supreme Court case interpreting the federal Civil Rights Act's fee shifting provision. (See 42 U.S.C. § 2000a-3 ["In any action commenced pursuant to this subchapter, the court, in its discretion, may allow the prevailing party ... a reasonable attorney's fee as part of the costs...."].)<sup>7</sup> In

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Hedgecock's reliance on U.S. Supreme Court precedent is not surprising. California's Political Reform Act was enacted only two years after the Federal Election Campaign Act and against the backdrop of the substantial

Christiansburg, the U.S. Supreme Court was concerned that awarding fees to prevailing defendants as a matter of course would undercut Congress' efforts to promote vigorous enforcement of the Civil Rights Act. Thus, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that, although not explicit from the text of the fee-shifting provision, a civil rights plaintiff "should not be assessed his opponent's attorney's fees unless a court finds that his claim was frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless, or that the plaintiff continued to litigate after it clearly became so." (Cristiansburg, supra, 434 U.S. at p. 422.)

The *Hedgecock* court found *Christiansburg*'s reasoning persuasive and held that for a defendant to recover fees under the Political Reform Act,

\_

civil rights legislation enacted in the 1960s and early 1970s, as *Hedgecock* acknowledges. (See *Hedgecock, supra*, 183 Cal.App.3d at p. 816 ["Given the past construction of sections 91003(a) and 91012 in Weinreb as being analogous to the similar attorneys' fee provisions in Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, we find the analysis in *Christiansburg* persuasive and applicable to the present case."].) Many of these federal statutes are enforced by private rights of action buttressed by discretionary fee-shifting provisions, and it was understood that Congress had empowered the courts to define the circumstances in which plaintiffs and defendants should recover fees consistent with the statutory policy. (See *Christiansburg*, supra, 434 U.S. 412, 416 [noting that many federal statutes authorize] the award of attorney's fees to either plaintiffs or defendants," thereby "entrusting the effectuation of the statutory policy to the discretion of the district courts," and cataloguing examples].) The Political Reform Act takes the same approach. (See Hedgecock, supra, 183 Cal.App.3d at p. 815 [noting that "[t]he use of the word 'may' in [the fee shifting provisions] is significant in that it implies a legislative intent to retain judicial discretion in defining the circumstance in which costs and fees will be awarded"]; see also Williams v. Chino Valley Independent Fire Dist. (2015) 61 Cal.4th 97, 112 [interpreting Fair Employment and Housing Act's fee shifting providing and "find[ing] inescapable the inference that the Legislature, in giving the trial courts discretion to award fees and costs to prevailing parties in employment discrimination suits, intended that discretion to be bounded by the Christiansburg rule, or something very close to it"].)

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