## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

NO. S268480

ARNETTE TRAVIS, ET AL., PETITIONERS,

v. BILL BRAND, ET AL., RESPONDENTS

After A Decision by the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Eight Case Nos. B298104 and B301479

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California, Los Angeles County Case No. BC 665330 The Honorable Malcolm H. Mackey, Judge Presiding

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON MERITS

### INTRODUCTION

The issue in this action is simple: Should prevailing plaintiffs and defendants be treated the same for an award of attorney fees, as stated by the language of the Political Reform Act? As both the Trial Court and Appellate Court found, pursuant to *Government Code* § 91003, the answer is indisputably, "Yes."

The Court of Appeal correctly acknowledged that the primary issue in this action is uncomplicated, noting:

The statute here says the trial court *may* award to a plaintiff or a defendant who prevails his costs of litigation, including reasonable attorney fees. The statute means what it says.

Travis, et al v. Brand, et al (2021) 62 Cal. App. 5<sup>th</sup> 240, 264.

This issue is as clear as the Appellate Court noted; indeed, the statute says both sides (plaintiffs and defendants) are to be treated the same. And, "the statute means what it says." (*Ibid.*)

Petitioners/plaintiffs Arnette Travis and Chris Voisey ("Petitioners") commenced this action seeking injunctive relief against Respondents for alleged violations of the Political Reform Act during a City-wide election in Redondo Beach in 2017, claiming Respondents used improper committee names in campaign materials. The trial court found against petitioners and subsequently awarded attorney fees to respondents. Petitioners appealed and the Court of Appeal upheld the trial court's decision awarding attorney fees by Petitioners to Respondents.

Although the plain meaning of the statute is clearly stated, Petitioners wish to complicate the matter, arguing that caselaw

4

requires a different standard for plaintiffs than defendants who prevail in cases brought under the Political Reform Act of 1974 ("PRA"), based on a unique 1986 case (*People v. Roger Hedgecock for Mayor Com.* (1986) 183 Cal. App.3d 815). Upholding the decision in *Travis, et al v. Brand, et al* (2021) 62 Cal. App. 5<sup>th</sup> 240 [Appellate Court Case Nos. B301479 and B29104] ("*Travis*")<sup>1</sup> will in no way undermine California's election disclosure requirements, as Petitioners urge. The award of attorney fees should lie within the discretion of the trial court as the statute provides. And, "the statute means what it says." *Id.* at 264.

The Court in *Hedgecock* dealt with a situation where defendant seeking attorney fees was not truly a prevailing Hedgecock involved a distinguishable situation in defendant. which the San Diego District Attorney (DA) initially filed a lawsuit against San Diego mayor Hedgecock, asserting he had failed to report contributions made to his campaign for mayor in violation of the PRA. The DA pursued criminal charges, monetary damages in the amount Hedgecock received and failed to disclose and injunctive relief under Gov. Code sections 91003 and 91012. Subsequent to the DA's filing, the Fair Political Practices Commission (FPPC) agreed to prosecute the civil matter itself and only after the FPPC filed its own action against Hedgecock did the DA dismiss its lawsuit. Once the DA voluntarily dismissed its civil action, Hedgecock sought attorney fees and costs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The appeal herein is from the decision of the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division EIGHT, although Petitioners repeatedly and erroneously designate the Division as Three.

as the "prevailing party." The trial court denied Hedgecock's request, because he did not "prevail" - a different prosecuting plaintiff (FPPC) had merely been substituted to proceed with the civil matter, while the DA proceeded with the criminal case, and Hedgecock was later found guilty on several counts. The *Hedgecock* case is not similar to the instant case in any respect; its holding cannot be applied here.

Likewise, the other case upon which Petitioners rely, Community Cause v. Boatwright (1987) 195 Cal. App. 3d 562, is not helpful to Petitioners. In *Boatwright*, a citizens group sued a state assemblyman for violations of the PRA, specifically failing to report an interest in a partnership and income in his statement of economic interest. The trial court entered judgment for defendant and awarded attorney fees and costs. On appeal, the attorney fee award was reversed. Plaintiff sought damages (not injunctive relief) against Boatwright pursuant to section 91004, not section 91003 which is the statute at issue in the instant matter. Government Code §91004 provides that "any person who intentionally or negligently violates any of the reporting requirements of the Act shall be liable in a civil action brought by the civil prosecutor or by a person residing within the jurisdiction for an amount not more than the amount or value not properly reported." Section 91004 has no applicability to the instant case.

Clearly, section 91004 does not contain any provision for the awarding of attorney fees by a prevailing party. A successful plaintiff or prevailing defendant in a Section 91004-sanctioned

lawsuit for damages (not injunctive relief) must rely upon section 91012 for an award of attorney fees. Here, Section 91003 is the relevant section, not Section 91004, and Respondents need not rely on Section 91012 to recover attorney fees, since section 91003 itself provides for attorney fees.

The underlying facts in this campaign-related case are straight forward and supported the trial judge's findings and decision after trial. On appeal, the Appellate Court found that the decision was supported by those facts and that the trial judge's award of attorneys' fees was supported by the facts and the law.

Despite Petitioners' lofty assertions that they filed their lawsuit to apprise the public of the truth, and their hollow claims that the Travis decision will effectively punish plaintiffs from suing to enforce the PRA and that only wealthy individuals and corporations will bring suits to enforce the PRA, it is petitioners themselves who have been deceptive, who have sought to punish Respondents, and who have used wealthy corporations to circumvent the intent of the PRA. It is they who were found by the trial judge to be "shills" in a "sham" lawsuit. It is they who claimed they filed the lawsuit as concerned citizens, testifying under oath in trial that they did not know who was paying for the lawsuit, followed by their counsel testifying under oath in trial that other entities (RB Waterfront, a subsidiary of CenterCal, owned by Fred Bruning and Jean Paul Wardy) were paying for the lawsuit, and it was they, who, a few weeks after their sworn trial testimony, stated in other sworn testimony (declarations opposing respondents' motions for attorney fees) that they actually knew all

along that the other entities were paying for the prosecution of the lawsuit, and that they had previously given written consent for such a financing arrangement.

This case boils down to the trial court's proper role in weighing the evidence presented and using its discretion to deny injunctive relief to the petitioners and enter Judgment against them, finding that Travis and Voisey were "shills" for a developer who brought and financed a frivolous, bad faith and "sham" lawsuit against the respondents, who opposed the developer's waterfront project. The Honorable Malcom H. Mackey found the lawsuit "frivolous, unfounded and unreasonable." (AA1776) After finding the respondents did not violate any provisions of the PRA, the trial court awarded attorneys' fees to them, as allowed by statute. (Government Code §91003 and Code of Civil Procedure §1021.5). The Court of Appeal held that the trial court's award of attorneys' fees to the prevailing respondents was supported by the acts and law. This honorable Court should find the same and affirm the Judgment of the Court of Appeal, as the decision constitutes well-settled California law.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

## A. Respondents Prevailed at Trial

In a 2017 Redondo Beach municipal election, a political action committee Rescue Our Waterfront P.A.C. ("Rescue") successfully campaigned for a ballot measure, which was also supported by the two candidates, Bill Brand (for Mayor) and Nils Nehrenheim (for City Council). After the election, two citizens

(Arnette Travis and Chris Voisey) sued the committee and candidates claiming the candidates had controlled the committee, which had used an improper title for itself. Travis and Voisey also sued Wayne Craig, the principal of Rescue, as well as Brand's campaign committee (Brand For Mayor 2017) and volunteer treasurer, Linda Moffat.

The ballot measure approved building restrictions in the City's harbor and pier areas. The lawsuit sought injunctive relief against the defendants by way of compelling defendants to amend their campaign statements and also sought attorneys' fees as private attorney general action. The trial court vindicated the political action committee and Craig and the candidates, Brand and Nehrenheim (including Treasurer Moffat and Brand's Mayoral Committee) and awarded attorneys' fees to the prevailing defendants, following a hearing on a motion for attorneys' fees.

# B. Respondents Prevailed at The Court of Appeal

The Court of Appeal affirmed the award of attorney fees and costs to respondents as against petitioners, Travis and Voisey. It accepted all evidence supporting the trial court's order, disregarding contrary evidence and drawing all reasonable inferences to affirm the trial court. It did not reweigh the evidence. It found that if substantial evidence supports factual findings, those findings must not be disturbed on appeal. *Schmidt v. Superior Court* (2020) 44 Cal. App. 5<sup>th</sup> 570, 581.

The appellate court found that substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding Rescue was a general purpose committee. It found that the trial court could properly determine

Rescue was a general purpose committee that did not need to reclassify itself, and that Rescue was not involved in running the principal campaign for Measure C.

The appellate court further found that sufficient evidence showed neither Nehrenheim nor Brand controlled Rescue. Neither had significant influence over Rescue, neither shared office space with Rescue, and neither controlled or had significant influence over Rescue's messaging. The appellate court found that there was ample evidence that demonstrated neither candidate acted jointly with Rescue in making expenditures, and neither had access to Rescue's money. E-mails defendants exchanged between each other bolstered the trial court finding that the candidates did not control Rescue.

Additionally, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's award of attorney fees to respondents, stating, "we uphold the trail court's exercise of its discretion to award attorney fees to the defendants, who were unquestionably the prevailing parties." *Travis, supra*, at 264.

# I. ARGUMENT: TRAVIS WAS CORRECTLY DECIDED AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

# A. The Statute Says What It Means and Means What It Says

Respondents prevailed against petitioners at trial. The clear meaning of Section 91003 authorizes the fee award in favor of the prevailing defendants (respondents herein). While petitioners claim they must pay fees only if their lawsuit was "frivolous,

unreasonable, or without justification," they misread the statute (section 91003). No such finding is required under the section.

Petitioners cite People v. Roger Hedgecock for Mayor Com. (1986) 183 Cal. App. 3d 810 and Community Cause v. Boatwright (1987) 195 Cal. App.3d 562 for their position that their lawsuit must be frivolous, unreasonable or without justification for respondents to be entitled to attorney fees. These arguments are unavailing, because in *Hedgecock*, the defendant seeking attorney fees was not truly a "prevailing" defendant. The San Diego District Attorney (DA) initially filed a lawsuit against San Diego mayor Hedgecock, asserting he had failed to report contributions made to his campaign for mayor in violation of the PRA, pursuing criminal charges and monetary damages in the amount Hedgecock received and failed to disclose. Subsequently, the FPPC agreed to prosecute the matter itself and only after the FPPC filed its own action against Hedgecock did the DA dismiss its lawsuit. At that point, because the DA voluntarily dismissed its action, Hedgecock sought attorney fees and costs as the "prevailing party." Hedgecock's request was denied because he did not "prevail" - a different prosecuting plaintiff had merely been substituted to proceed with the matter. The *Hedgecock* case is not similar to the instant case in any respect; its holding cannot be applied here.

Likewise, Community Cause v. Boatwright (1987) 195 Cal. App. 3d 562, is not helpful to Petitioners, because it does not involve the statute at issue here. In Boatwright, a citizens group sought damages (not injunctive relief) against a state assemblyman for violations of the PRA under Section 91004, not

section 91003, but lost. The trial court's award of attorney fees and costs to defendant was reversed on appeal. Section 91004 provides that "any person who intentionally or negligently violates any of the reporting requirements of the Act shall be liable in a civil action brought by the civil prosecutor or by a person residing within the jurisdiction for an amount not more than the amount or value not properly reported." Government Code §91004. However, Section 91004 does not contain any provision for the awarding of attorney fees by a prevailing party. A successful plaintiff or prevailing defendant in a Section 91004-sanctioned lawsuit for damages (not injunctive relief) must rely upon section 91012 for an award of attorney fees. Here, Section 91003 is at issue, not Section 91004, and Respondents need not rely on Section 91012 in order to recover attorney fees.

Hedgecock and Boatwright relied on the U.S. Supreme Court case, Christiansburg Garment Co. v. EEOC (1978) 434 U.S. 412, 421-422, which held a court must find a plaintiff's claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act to be frivolous, unreasonable, or groundless to award attorney fees to the defendant. Even if that were the applicable standard by which defendants would be entitled to receive an award of attorney fees, they have met that standard. In the trial court's August 8, 2019 Order Re: Motions for Attorneys Fees, Non-C.C.P. 1033.5 Costs and C.C.P. 1033.5 costs, it ruled, "3. The instant lawsuit filed against the Defendants was frivolous, unreasonable and groundless and Plaintiffs were found to be shills for Redondo Beach Waterfront LLC." (AA 565-570)

But, in 1994, the U.S. Supreme Court considerably limited *Christiansburg* in *Fogerty v. Fantasy, Inc.* (1994) 510 U.S. 517. The decision in *Fogerty* observed *Christiansburg*'s holding stemmed from its civil rights context: "Oftentimes, in the civil rights context, impecunious 'private attorney general' plaintiffs can ill afford to litigate their claims against defendants with more resources (*Id.* at 524). The high court contrasted this special setting with a more typical civil litigation, where plaintiffs 'can run the gamut from corporate behemoths to starving artists.' (*Ibid.*) The same is true of prospective defendants, the court observed.

The appellate court held the statute in this case is not like the statute in *Christiansburg*. It is more like the one in *Fogerty*. It held that "California election law disputes are more like the ordinary civil litigation setting in *Fogerty*: generalizations about plaintiffs and defendants are doubtful. This is true in this case and as a general matter." *Travis*, *supra*, at 264.

The meaning of the statute is clear. It says the trial court may award to a plaintiff or a defendant who prevails his costs of litigation, including reasonable attorney fees. (Gov. Code section 91003) The statute means what it says. There is no language written in secret disappearing ink that one can only find by shining a black light on the code book – the statute is written in plain English and must be given its plain meaning: the prevailing party is entitled to attorney fees at the discretion of the trial court, whether he is a plaintiff or a defendant. Period. As stated in DaFonte v. UpRight Inc. (1992) 2 Cal. 4<sup>th</sup> 593, 601: "the plain meaning of words in a statute may be disregarded only when that

meaning is repugnant to the general purview of the act or for some other compelling reason." There is no such compelling reason to disregard the plain words in *Gov. Code* section 91003 here, and the statute means what it says.

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